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015 was something of a milestone year for your Chamber.
Our headquarters underwent a complete renovation and
expansion to provide better facilities and more services for
members. We opened our eighth Certification branch office,
enhanced our online business documentation services, and
launched our mobile app. Our core advocacy function resulted
in the Government launching a range of initiatives to help
businesses and boost Hong Kong’s competitiveness, as well
as maintain our laissez-faire business environment. Perhaps
in reflection of our work, last year we enjoyed the highest
membership renewal rate in over a decade.
In this annual report, together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, the
General Committee has the pleasure of listing out the key work
of the Chamber in 2015 and its financial performance.

Principal Place of Business
The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce (the “Chamber”)
and its subsidiary (together “the Group”) are companies
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and have their
registered offices and principal place of business at 22/F, United
Centre, 95 Queensway, Hong Kong.

Principal Activities
The role of the Chamber is to promote, represent and safeguard
the interests of the Hong Kong business community.

Review of the Chamber’s business
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2015 have been audited by KPMG.
The Group’s financial key performance indicator (“KPI”)
measures net surplus before taxation, which demonstrates the
Chamber’s ability to sustain and develop its operations.
The Group’s income is derived from two key areas, namely
Certification Services and Member Services, which contribute
78.7% of the Group’s total annual income. Staff and Office
costs are the two main expense categories for the Group, which
accounted for 86.0% of annual expenditure. Full details of these
categories are set out in notes 11, 15, and 16 to the financial
statements.
The income generating services of the Group continued to
operate relatively smoothly in 2015, despite a fall in demand
for ATA Carnet services and less gains from investment funds.
In overall terms, total income for the Group fell 9.0% to $82.6
million, compared to 2014, to end 2015 with a net surplus
before tax of $17.7 million. Expenses were tightly controlled to
end the year at $64.9 million, which represented an increase of
5.0% over 2014. The net assets as at 31 December 2015 were
$482.6 million.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Important events affecting the Group

The Group’s income is closely tied to the fortunes of the local
and global economies. In developing the Group’s business,
the General Committee adopted a balanced approach and
categorized its principal risks into credit, liquidity, equity price and
other risks.

There has been no important event affecting the Group since
the end of the financial year.

These are as follows:
Credit risk involves one party to a financial instrument causing
financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an
obligation.
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may be unable to meet its
short-term financial demands.

Outlook for the Group
Despite the volatile investment environment, which may
continue into the coming financial year, the Group is expected to
have a smooth year as it will focus on delivering quality services
to members, diversifying income sources and implementing cost
controls.

Financial Statements
The Financial Performance of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015 and the Group’s financial position as at that
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 68 to 87.

Equity price risk is the risk from the Group’s exposure to equity
price changes for its equity securities and investments, which are
managed by an investment manager.
Other risks for the Group are minimal, because it has no noncompliance of law, regulations or environmental issues, and it
maintains good relationships with its employees, members and
suppliers.
Since the Group did not have any borrowing, there is no risk
arising from borrowing.
Details on all of the Group’s risk categories are set out in note
23 in the financial statements.

YK Pang
Chairman
on 24 March 2016
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	Nicholas Yang Wei-hsiung, Secretary for Innovation and Technology
 Anna Wu Hung-yuk, Non-official Member of the Executive Council
	The Hon Fanny Law Fan Chiu-fun, Non-official Member of the Executive Council
 Laura Cha Shih May-lung, Non-official Member of the Executive Council
 James Tien Pei-chun, Member of the Legislative Council
Main Conferences
 CEO Manpower Conference
 Constitutional Development
 Hong Kong’s Third Runway
 Invest in Japan Symposium
 Smart City • Smart Hong Kong
 Sustainable Development of the Tourism Industry
 Empowering Women Leaders

Entrepreneur Series: Embracing Risk to Find Success
Visit to Shenzhen Metro Line 4
Roundtable: Rethinking Independent Directorships in Hong Kong
WEC Breakfast Series: Betty Yuen
Country Briefing Series: Spain
Meet the ExCo: Fanny Law Fan Chiu-fun
China Committee Cocktail Reception
Visit to HK Electric's Cable Tunnel & System Control Centre
YEC Launch Cocktail Reception

Business Community Forum on Constitutional Development
YEC Networking Luncheon
Roundtable: Major U.S. and European Bankruptcy Laws
Seminar: Standard Working Hours -- Implications and Practice
Joint Business Community Luncheon with the Chief Executive
Leung Chun-ying
Visit to Tseung Kwan O Landfill
Visit to CUHK Marketing Engineering Lab
Workshop: Instructional Design for Professional Trainers
Seminar: Unlocking Latin America's Potential
Roundtable: China Economic Outlook for 2015
Entrepreneur Series: Fortune's Formula for Success

Town Hall Forum Series: Constitutional Development
Meet the Minister: Gregory So Kam-leung
Chinese New Year Dinner
Visit to H.A.N.D.S. in Tuen Mun
Seminar: Women in Entrepreneurship and Intrapreneurship
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Meet the LegCo: James Tien Pei-chun
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Country Briefing Series: Make In India
Visit to Creative Media and Smart APPS at CityU
Visit to Nanshan & Shekou
Visit to Civil Aviation Department Headquarters
Entrepreneur Series: My Way: A Journey from Farmer to Fisherman

Policy Submissions
The Chamber provided input to the Government on a wide range of policy proposals
in 2015. Following are the 10 key consultations:
 2016-17 Policy Address cum Budget Submission
 Proposal on National 13th Five-Year Plan
 Consultation on Method for Selecting the Chief Executive by Universal Suffrage
 Revised Draft Guidelines on the Competition Ordinance
	The Future Development of the Electricity Market
 Consultation on Voluntary Health Insurance Scheme
 HKGCC Code of Conduct under the Competition Ordinance
 Automatic Exchange of Financial Account Information in Tax Matters in Hong Kong
 Extension of the Cleaner Production Partnership Programme
	Topside Development at Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities Island of HZMB

Site Visits
The Chamber organized regular site visits in 2015, ranging from visits
to the homes of Consuls General to Cathay Pacific City to landfills.
Following are a few of the highlights:
 Cathay Pacific City
 MTR Corporation
 Good Labs
	Tseung Kwan O Landfill
 Shenzhen Metro Line 4
 Canadian Consul General's Residence
 USA Consul General's Residence
 LegCo
 Hong Kong Aircraft Engineering Co
 Customs & Excise Department
	Tom Lee Music
 Creative Media and Smart APPS at CityU

YEC Networking: Easy for Your Career
Roundtable: 2015 NPC & CPPCC Annual Sessions
Visit to Kin Xun's Paper and Metal Recycling Facilities
Meet the ExCo: Anna Wu Hung-yuk
Workshop: Business Opportunities in Government Procurement
Roundtable: Opportunities in Italy
Meet with Author Series: Chinese Politics in the Era of Xi Jinping
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CityNext Forum
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Seminar: One Belt One Road – New Opportunities for Hong Kong
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Visit to Customs & Excise Department's HQ
Roundtable: Public Private Partnerships in China
Wine and Cheese Etiquette Workshop
Luncheon with Michael Pranikoff, Global Director, PR Newswire

Visit to Cathay Pacific City
Meet the ExCo: Nicholas Yang Wei-hsiung
Seminar:  Smart City • Smart Hong Kong
Roundtable: The Value of Services in the Manufacturing Process
Roundtable: Marketing Strategy for the New Mobile and Digital Generation
YEC Networking: Latte Art Workshop
Meet the Chamber Chairman
Roundtable: Hong Kong's Basic Law
Visit to MTR Corporation
New Members' Briefing
Cocktail Reception with European Consuls General in Hong Kong
Seminar: Customs Policy of Cross-border E-Commerce

Meet the Master Chef
Business-School Partnership Programme Closing Ceremony
Business over meals – Essential Dining Etiquette
Visit to Good Lab
Mission to Tianjin
TSL Jewellery Appreciation Workshop
WEC Luncheon with Mei Ling Ng Liu, Managing Director of
Hong Kong Matchmakers
Invest in Japan Symposium 2015

Visit to SCAD Hong Kong: Preparing Tomorrow's Creative Leaders
Roundtable: Expanding Business into Digital Space
Visit to the Canadian Consul General's Residence
HKGCC & HKJCCI Joint Luncheon
WEC Networking Cocktail in Fashion
YEC Workshop: Executives Can Code

Meet the Minister: Professor K C Chan
WEC Networking Dinner
Cocktail Reception with Consuls General of Asia, Africa and Middle East
Mission: 2015 China International Fair for Investment & Trade
Entrepreneur Series: Making Travel Dreams Come True
Seminar: Criminal Aspects of the Competition Ordinance
Mission: Rediscovering Zhongshan
Visit to Explore Technologies at ASTRI
Distinguished Speakers Series: Unilever CEO Paul Polman
Country Briefing Series: Exploring Opportunities in Colombia
Country Briefing Series: Unlocking West Africa's Opportunities
Roundtable: Update on RMB Internationalisation
Policy Address / Budget Forum
Visit to See 3D Printing Technology
Strategy of China: Belt and Road Initiative
Chamber Happy Hour
Visit to Courtyard by Marriott
WEC Breakfast Series: Viveca Chan, CEO, WE Marketing Group

Roundtable: Block Exemption Regulation under the Competition Ordinance
Entrepreneur Series: From Vines to Wines
Roundtable: Europe Back on Track
Forum on Sustainable Development of Hong Kong's Tourism Industry
CEO Manpower Conference: The Future of Work
Meet the ExCo: Laura Cha Shih May-lung
Roundtable: The Past, Present, and Future of Chinese Family Businesses
Roundtable: Do's and Don'ts Under the Competition Ordinance for SMEs
Forum: Mitchell E. Daniels, Jr. on Economic Growth
Roundtable: Internet+ Era: How to Protect the Interests of our Business
China Daily Asia Leadership Roundtable: Hong Kong Unleashing the
Potential of Belt and Road Initiative
Visit to Renewable Energy Facilities at Town Island

Roundtable: Belt and Road Initiative: Hong Kong Business Opportunities
YEC Saturday Harbour Lunch & Cruise
Roundtable: Countdown to the Competition Ordinance-Are You Ready?
Seminar: Copyright Amendments
Entrepreneur Series: German Pool Making Life Simpler
Seminar: New ESG Reporting Requirements
Meet the Minister: Matthew Cheung Kin-chung
Visit to Hong Kong Aircraft Engineering Co
WEC Breakfast Meeting: Fanny Law Fan Chiu-fun
Chamber YEC Teams Oxfam Trailwalker 2015
Roundtable: Taiwan 2016 Election
Roundtable: Tactics to Rank Higher on Taobao and Tmall
Cocktail Reception with European Consuls General in Hong Kong
Visit to KPMG's Insights Centre

Roundtable: Managing Legal Risk
WEC Seminar: Masters of Our Destiny – Empowering Women Leaders
Cocktail Event: Breaking the Glass Ceiling! Empowering Women Leaders
Town Hall Forum Series: Meet the ExCo-Professor Arthur Li Kwok-cheung
LegCo Visit & Luncheon
WEC Dance & Social Event
Chamber Christmas Cocktail Reception
Joint Chamber Happy Hour
Day trip to Zhuhai & Hengqin
2015 HKAI Presentation Ceremony & Gala Dinner
High-Level Business Delegation to Beijing
YEC & WEC Cocktail Evening
Seminar: HKSAR Climate Change Strategy and COP21
Country Briefing Series: Iran Opening
Visit to U.S. Consul General's Home
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Chairman's Report

Despite a very challenging external business environment, your
Chamber and Hong Kong ended the year with cause to cheer.
However, with the global economy struggling to find traction and
endless filibustering in the Legislative Council, businesses and
Hong Kong are expected to be in for a tougher ride in the coming year

Two thousand and fifteen was a very productive and busy year
for your Chamber across a number of different areas. Through
our proven consultation process and the hard work of our
committees, we presented your views to the Government in
practical proposals that were viewed as sensible and useful. From
methods for selecting the Chief Executive to power generation,
to voluntary health insurance and personal data privacy, your
Chamber excelled in its mission to serve as the Voice of Business
in Hong Kong. Special thanks should go to our Legal Committee
members for all their hard work in examining and clarifying the
many grey areas in the controversial Competition Ordinance, and
for educating members on preparing for its implementation.
I believe our hard work and successes was appreciated
by members, because in 2015, we achieved the highest
membership renewal rate for many years, despite the
challenging business environment. This clearly demonstrates
the tremendous value that members feel they get out of being
members of the Chamber – not least our usefulness in helping
them grow their businesses. From the Policy Address and Budget

forums which stimulated concrete ideas for boosting Hong Kong
and businesses' competitiveness, to the almost daily networking
opportunities that we provide, members certainly received very
good value from their membership dues.
This was reflected in the steady increase in the number of
members participating in our programmes during the year, and
clearly signified that more members and their staff were making
better use of their membership benefits. Another interesting
development was that for the majority of our programmes, the
mix of large and small member companies attending events
was relatively balanced, reinforcing the fact that we serve
and represent all businesses, large and small. Over 12,000
members attended more than 250 programmes during the year
under review, and this figure does not include the 100 or so
committee meetings that we held in 2015.
We hope to maintain this positive momentum going forward,
and will be rolling out even more timely events to help

members capture opportunities which new policy developments
will create, such as the Belt & Road initiative, the 13th Five-Year
Plan as well as Hong Kong's own focus on the technology, fintech and creative sectors, among others.
During the Chamber's High-level Business Delegation to Beijing
in December, every ministry and government department
which we visited spoke about the importance that the Central
Government places on these enormous economic development
plans. You can be assured that the Chamber will be following
these policies closely and arranging events to provide updates
and insights to members. In fact, we already started work on
the Belt & Road initiative in 2015, because besides organizing
knowledge-based events, we also sent a delegation to visit Iran,
one of the "Belt" countries, in April 2016.
Another major development – indeed milestone – achieved
during the year under review was the complete transformation

of the Chamber's headquarters in Admiralty. The General
Committee took the decision in early 2015 to completely
renovate the entire 22/F starting in June 2015. The renovations
were completed in December, and an official housewarming
party was held on 22 January, with Financial Secretary John
Tsang officiating at the opening ceremony.

Economic Challenges
We hope our new facilities and services will help soften the
challenges that the coming year is expected to throw at us. For
the year in review, Hong Kong's economy managed to register
real growth of 2.4% – slightly slower than the 2.6% growth
achieved in 2014, despite facing a challenging economic
landscape internationally. Domestic demand supported much
of this growth, particularly during the first half of the year. A
slowdown in private sector investment during the second half of
the year, however, suggests that additional challenges could be
on the way in 2016.

The global economy grew at its slowest pace since the
global financial crisis. Consequently, global trade, on which
Hong Kong's economy depends, did not fare as well. Global
merchandise trade declined by an estimated 11.8% YoY in
2015. As the Mainland – Hong Kong's largest trading partner
accounting for over 51% of the city's direct two-way trade flows
in 2015 – continued to experience slowing growth, Hong Kong's
exports and imports saw declines of 1.7% YoY and 2.5% YoY,
respectively. The shipping, ports and logistics sectors were
particularly affected, in addition to ancillary businesses.
Domestically, private consumption expenditure increased
by 4.8% YoY in real terms on the back of full employment
and rising household income. Hong Kong's labour and skills
shortages continued to pose challenges for companies during
the year, with the unemployment rate averaging 3.3% for the
year. At the same time, median income rose 7.1% over 2014, as
companies raised wages to try and attract and retain staff.

While these trends supported domestic consumption in 2015 and
suggest a resilient economy, worrying signs started to emerge
towards the second half of 2015. Retail sales continued to
decline for 10 consecutive months, due to the weaker economy
and fewer Mainland tourists visiting Hong Kong. For the year as
a whole, total visitor arrivals declined 2.5% compared to 2014.
The slide is expected to continue in 2016 due to the strong
dollar making neighbouring markets more attractive. Although
the fall in visitors was relatively small, the ripple effect was clearly
felt in the retail, accommodation and food service industries, as
the number of people employed in these sectors fell by over
19,000 between January and December 2015.
The less than optimistic economic outlook resulted in
businesses becoming noticeably more conservative toward the
second half of 2015. Investments declined 6.4% YoY and 1.3%
YoY in the third and fourth quarters respectively, led by a drop in
investment spending by the private sector.

Looking Ahead
The global economy got off to a turbulent start in 2016.
Going forward, Hong Kong's economy is expected to be
influenced by economic uncertainties, particularly in advanced
economies. History shows that the U.S. economy tends to
perform well during an election year, and businesses trading
with the United States may see a slight improvement in growth.
However, Europe, with the migrant crisis and concerns over
terrorist attacks, and doggedly weak growth, coupled with the
referendum on whether Britain should stay in the EU, is likely
to be weaker and will have to deal with a number of atypical
challenges in 2016.
Closer to home, the Chinese economy is also decelerating,
which will add to businesses' worries and dampen investor
sentiment. Within Hong Kong, domestic consumption will be
the main growth driver for the economy in 2016. But with
fewer Mainland visitors coming to Hong Kong, the tourism, retail

and F&B sectors will likely feel the pinch and see job losses.
Government investment in infrastructure projects will play a
central role in stimulating domestic growth, but unfortunately,
there is a very worrying trend whereby certain members of
the Legislative Council endlessly undermine and obstruct the
Government's efforts to implement its policies. Indiscriminate
filibustering in LegCo is causing concern among local and
international businesses, as well as members of the general
public. These delays to crucial projects will affect Hong Kong's
future competitiveness and the livelihoods of many ordinary
people, and almost always add to the final cost of projects.
The progress of funding approval in LegCo for capital works
projects in the 2015-16 legislative session was extremely slow.
Out of the 72 new projects valued at around $67 billion which
the Government planned to submit to the Finance Committee,
only five projects had been approved as of the end of January
2016. Your Chamber urged legislators to carefully consider

the harm their actions inflict on Hong Kong's economy, on our
competitiveness and on the livelihoods and jobs of the general
public. We will continue to lobby legislators to focus their
energies and efforts on building Hong Kong's strengths and
competitiveness, and finding ways to help our members and the
business community as a whole through the tougher business
environment which we are expecting to endure in the coming
year or two.

A rewarding two years
As I approach the end of my two-year tenure as the Chairman of
the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce, I wish to thank
my Deputy Chairman Stephen Ng, Vice Chairmen Aron Harilela,
Victor Li and Betty Yuen, as well as Chamber Legislator Jeffrey
Lam, CEO Shirley Yuen and all of the staff of the Chamber for
all their hard work, guidance and support during these past two
years. I must also thank my fellow General Committee members
and indeed, all members of the Chamber for your ideas, advice
and proposals on how we can collectively make the Chamber

and Hong Kong even more competitive and relevant in this era
of "new-normal."
It has been a great privilege and honour to serve as Chairman
of our Chamber during these two extremely busy and eventful
years, and I will of course continue to give every support to the
work of the Chamber going forward.
In closing, may I wish you every success in your business in
2016, and to wish happiness, harmony and prosperity for Hong
Kong in the years ahead.

YK Pang
Chairman

CEO's Report

The Chamber worked hard throughout 2015 to help members
minimize the impact of regulatory changes and the slowing economy.
We also upgraded and expanded our facilities and services to better
serve members in the years ahead

2015 threw a barrage of challenges at Hong Kong and businesses.

But it was not all doom and gloom. Our lobbying efforts calling

The long-awaited recovery of the global economy and the slowing

for the Government to help ease SMEs' burden were rewarded

Mainland economy forced many companies to redraw their

in the annual Policy and Budget addresses announced at the start

business plans to get through another tough year. Filibustering

of 2016. Within the Chamber itself, our headquarters in United

in the Legislative Council by Pan-democrats delayed crucial

Centre underwent major renovations and expansion starting in

infrastructure and development projects. The strong dollar and

June 2015, which lasted for six months. The new office houses

perception that Mainland tourists were not welcome in Hong

our eighth Certification branch, additional meeting rooms and

Kong resulted in the continued decline in the number of Mainland

theatres, and even a history wall highlighting milestones of the

tourists coming to Hong Kong.

Chamber over the decades. Feedback from members has been
extremely positive and they are delighted with the new look and

Towards the end of the year, the business community was

facilities of their Chamber.

worrying about the introduction of the Competition Law, which
came into effect in December 2015. Proposals to introduce

The Voice of Business in Hong Kong

standard working hours, as well as abolishing the MPF severance

As mentioned above, the looming implementation of the

and long-service offsetting mechanism, added fresh worries of

Competition Ordinance on 14 December 2015 kept the

further burden on businesses which were already struggling with

Policy Division and related committees busy for much of the

the difficult external environment.

year submitting its views to the Competition Commission on

a number of grey areas. The Chamber met regularly with the

Suggestions to abolish the MPF offsetting of the severance and

Competition Commission to discuss members' concerns and

long service payments alarmed many businesses, and the Chamber

confusion about ambiguities within the Ordinance. In addition

stressed that any change to this proven mechanism would

to organizing talks, publishing articles and providing advice

significantly increase the operating costs of enterprises, especially

to members, the Chamber also drafted a "Chamber Code of

SMEs, and further weaken Hong Kong's competitiveness. We

Conduct" to help businesses comply with the law.

urged the Government to conduct a regulatory impact assessment
before making any changes to this long-standing mechanism,

We organized two policy forums ahead of the annual Policy and

and stressed that the performance and charges of MPF schemes

Budget addresses for members to tell us what problems they

should also be included when reviewing the MPF scheme, instead

were experiencing and what measures the Government could

of singling out the offsetting mechanism.

roll out to boost Hong Kong's competitiveness, the economy and
help businesses. We presented those ideas in our submission to

We worked hard on the need to update the Copyright (Amendment)

the Chief Executive and Financial Secretary, and I am pleased to

Bill 2014 to align Hong Kong's copyright laws with international

report that a wide range of measures to stimulate the economy

standards. We lobbied the Government to mitigate the burden

and assist businesses were announced in these two development

that international tax transparency regulations, such as the

blueprints at the start of 2016.

Automatic Exchange of Information (AEOI) regime to be

high-level cocktail receptions with Consuls General in Hong

implemented sometime in 2016, would impose on employers

Kong to allow members to meet official country representatives

and businesses.

as well as make new contacts in their region of interest. Our
Europe Committee also explored what business opportunities

We continued the Chamber's lobbying efforts through private

were available in Italy and Spain during our mission to Milan,

meetings with Government officials, closed-door discussions in

Barcelona and Madrid.

our Town Hall Forum Series of talks, as well as the Annual Joint
Business Community Luncheons with the Chief Executive Leung

For members who were interested in finding new markets or

Chun-ying and Financial Secretary John C. Tsang, respectively.

partners closer to home, we organized around 10 business
missions to the Mainland, as well as visited dozens of companies'

Building Connections

operations in Hong Kong. Our Women Executives Club, as well as

There was no shortage of opportunities for members to

Young Executives Club, also organized softer networking activities

boost their networks and meet potential partners in 2015. We

for members looking to mix business with pleasure. With members

organized over 250 knowledge-based and networking events,

facing a difficult business environment, stiffer competition, and

which were attended by over 12,000 members. We welcomed

skills shortages, the Chamber organized a wide range of valuable

around 80 incoming delegations from the Mainland and around

and timely training programmes to help members sharpen their

the world to help put members in touch with useful government

employees' skills and knowledge.

and business contacts and potential partners. We also organized

To promote the work and views of the Chamber within the wider

I am also pleased to report that the Chamber’s Free Ride

community, we worked closely with members of the media and

Day and the Good Citizen Award received widespread media

organized tea gatherings, press conferences, wrote articles and

coverage and raised awareness of the Chamber with the general

Op-Eds, as well as issued press releases to clearly reflect our

public. Likewise, our Business-School Partnership Programme,

views and policy recommendations. The work was well rewarded

which now has 60 local secondary schools and member

as press coverage of the Chamber surpassed 520. Our efforts to

companies enrolled, helped tomorrow’s leaders understand

make better use of technology and social media sites, such as

more about the Chamber and the business community.

Facebook and LinkedIn, also promoted the Chamber's mission in

Our Young Executives Committee also formed two teams to

non-conventional media.

participate in Hong Kong’s Oxfam Trailwalker and raised almost a
quarter of a million dollars.

As part of our plans to upgrade services and technology to better
serve members, the Chamber launched its mobile app, HKGCC

I was also heartened to see Chamber staff enthusiastically

Mobile , in September as more and more people now depend

supporting and expanding our corporate social responsibility

on their mobile devices as their primary tool for communication.

programmes with the elderly and less privileged members of

Feedback from members has been extremely positive and we will

society. More details of these worthwhile programmes can be

continue to promote the app, which is available on iPhone and

found elsewhere in this annual report.

Android platforms, to users beyond the Chamber.

Business Documentation Services

Chamber Finances

The Chamber added an eighth Documentation Branch office

Against the backdrop of a weak global economy and volatile stock

to its network during the year under review. Located in the

market, the Chamber managed its finances very cautiously and

Chamber's headquarters in United Centre, the new branch

kept a tight rein on expenses. For 2015 as a whole, the Chamber

offers a full range of business documentation services, and it is

ended the year with a surplus of $17.3 million, a decline of

the only office that issues ATA Carnets.

$10.9 million compared to the exceptionally good year for the
Chamber's finances in 2014. The extremely volatile investment

Due to the adverse global business environment and a growing

environment, and to a lesser extent a decline in business

trend for customs authorities around the world to minimize trade

documentation services, were the main factors behind the

documentation, demand for Certificates of Origin (CO) declined

decline. Funds managed by our investment manager reported a

by 3% in 2015 over 2014. ATA Carnet services also saw a fall

0.9% decline to end the year valued at $284.1 million.

in demand, due mainly to policy changes in the Mainland.
One bright spot was an increase in Certification of Documents
services, which saw the number of documents issued rise by
4.3% over 2014's total. Following the success of our online CO
services, our Certification Division enhanced the online Carnet

Shirley Yuen

platform, which has significantly reduced the time needed for

CEO

customers to complete their Carnet forms.

Policy Advocacy

A number of significant changes to Hong Kong's legislative
environment ensured the Chamber's Policy Division had a busy year
providing input to the Government as well as helping members stay
abreast of developments

Digital, Information & Telecommunications
Committee

During the year, the committee exchanged views with

The committee addressed a wide range of issues during the

affecting ICT industries, and organized events to keep

year under review, from amendments to copyright legislation

members abreast of developments. Talks were organized on

to cross-border data transfer. As Hong Kong's copyright regime

easing challenges associated with cross-border e-commerce,

lags behind other developed jurisdictions, the Chamber co-

as well as how members can improve their search engine

organized a seminar with the Hong Kong Copyright Alliance to

rankings for online shopping portals to boost sales. A talk was

inform the business community of the importance of amending

also arranged to update members on their legal obligations

the Copyright (Amendment) Bill 2014 to align Hong Kong's

under the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance when developing

copyright laws with international standards.

and using mobile apps.

Committee members met with the Government to discuss

A major event for the committee in 2015 was a joint seminar

the impact of the proposed implementation of Section 33 of

organized with Microsoft, titled "CityNext Forum: Engaging 21st

the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, which prohibits the

Century Citizens." At the event, government officials and industry

transfer of personal data to places outside Hong Kong, except

leaders shared their views on how technologies could be

in circumstances specified in the Ordinance. The committee

increasingly interactive to address citizens' growing demands in

followed up the meeting with a submission to the Constitutional

the 21st century.

and Mainland Affairs Bureau.

government departments and statutory bodies on issues

Economic Policy Committee

continue to pursue the matter – brought about by new global

The committee organized two forums to gather members' views

regulations – to seek a desirable outcome. The committee

as part of its preparations for drafting the Chamber's policy

also closely monitored the implementation of the Competition

recommendations on priorities to the Chief Executive's annual

Ordinance, which came into force on 14 December, and invited

Policy Address and the Financial Secretary's annual Budget. It

senior officials and industry experts to share their views with

also drafted the Chamber's response to the Food and Health

members on a wide range of issues.

Bureau's consultation on Voluntary Health Insurance Scheme
and Regulation of Private Healthcare Facilities. Committee

Environment & Sustainability Committee

members also contributed their views to the Chamber's

During the year under review, the committee invited senior

submissions on China's 13 Five-Year Plan, as well as the HKSAR

government officials to discuss various environmental policy

Government's consultation on the future development of Hong

issues with members. K S Wong, Secretary for the Environment,

Kong's electricity market.

spoke on Hong Kong's target to reduce energy intensity by 40%

th

between 2005 and 2025, while Christine Loh, Under Secretary
Concerns about difficulties in accessing financial services by

for the Environment, spoke at two forums on energy policy

legitimate businesses prompted the committee to engage the

and climate change strategy. Members also exchanged views

Hong Kong Monetary Authority on the issue. The committee will

with government officials on the mechanism of the $1 Billion

Financial & Treasury Services Committee

Recycling Fund and Environmental Impact Assessment, as well as

The committee exchanged views with experts on a variety

participated in site inspection trips to learn about environmental

of subjects affecting the financial services sector, including

infrastructure and the benefits of green business practices.

a roundtable talk on complying with sanctions and terrorists
financing obligations. Members also discussed the impact of

The public consultation on "The Future Development of

the un-pegging of the Swiss Franc and the Euro by the Swiss

the Electricity Market" was a significant undertaking for the

Central Bank and the European Central Bank's asset purchase

committee. The Chamber's view was: any energy policy

programme. Other key topics that the committee examined

should meet the objectives of safety, reliability, affordability and

included the stock connect and its future implications, as well

environmental performance. We called for a roadmap for future

as opportunities and challenges under the Belt & Road initiative,

contractual arrangements with power companies to achieve

development of the bond market, financial technology and

viable and prioritized objectives, as well as allowing sufficient

supplying sufficient talent for the financial services sector.

time for businesses to make necessary adjustments and longterm investments.

Eminent Ambassador of Mexico Andres Rosental and Consul
General of Mexico in Hong Kong Alicia Buenrostro Massieu
had a lively dialogue with Chamber members on opportunities
between the two jurisdictions.

HKCSI Executive Committee

On other topics, Sir Rod Eddington, former CEO of Cathay Pacific

The committee monitored WTO negotiations and discussions

and currently Australian member of the APEC Business Advisory

on the Trade in Services Agreement (TiSA), as well as how

Council, shared his thoughts with Chamber members on how

the development of other regional and free trade agreements

Hong Kong has changed over the past three decades, and what

could facilitate business development and further enhance

future lies ahead for Hong Kong in a rapidly changing global

our competitiveness. HKCSI maintained regular dialogue with

environment. He said for Hong Kong to continue to grow and

the Trade and Industry Department. Members also had the

prosper, the business community must play a key leadership role.

opportunity to hear from Peter Allgeier, President of the USCSI,
on the organisation's services liberalization lobbying efforts.

Doris Ho, Head, Policy and Project Co-Ordination Unit of the
Chief Secretary for Administration's Private Office, briefed

HKCSI, together with other members of the Global Services

members on the initiatives proposed in the Report on

Coalition (GSC), issued statements supporting TiSA negotiations

Population Policy Strategies and Initiatives. The committee

and urged negotiators to focus on achieving deep and uniform

felt that the retention of talent should be a priority and that

commitments. The group also issued joint statements supporting

would mean affordability, improvements in quality of life and

the APEC Business Advisory Council's call for a new services

confidence in the future. Moreover, as a city economy, Hong

agenda in APEC and the APEC Public-Private Dialogues on services.

Kong cannot be self-contained, so integration with the Mainland

Members discussed ideas to nurture talent to carry forward

would be one solution.

new technology policy initiatives, enhance the Innovation and
Technology Fund, commercialize R&D projects and foster a

Dr Patrick Low, Vice President of Research of Fung Global Institute

vibrant innovation culture in the community. To identify the

and former Chief Economist of the World Trade Organisation,

strengths and opportunities that could turn Hong Kong into a

shared his research results with Chamber members on the value

smart city, the committee co-organized a conference with the

of services in the manufacturing process. He said services are

Hong Kong Science Park titled "Smart City • Smart Hong Kong."

becoming an increasingly dominant source of value in economic
activity, as between 30-70 separate services are needed in a

The committee was again heavily involved in the Hong Kong

typical supply chain.

Awards for Industries, a premier business awards scheme
championed by the HKSAR Government, with the Chamber

Industry & Technology Committee

being the lead organizer for the "Innovation and Creativity"

The committee had long been calling for the establishment

category. The Chamber organized a seminar in May to promote

of the Innovation and Technology Bureau, so when LegCo's

the awards, resulting in 54 applications, out of which eight

Finance Committee finally approved funding for the bureau in

winners were awarded at a presentation ceremony held in

November, the committee was delighted.

December.

Legal Committee

was also organized, and the committee also contributed to

The Legal Committee devoted a considerable amount of time

the drafting of a Chamber Code of Conduct to help members

and energy in engaging the Competition Commission prior to

comply with the law. Briefings on other timely topics, such

the implementation of the Competition Ordinance in December

as director's duties, managing legal risk, share warranties in

2015. The committee submitted its views on a wide range of

the sale of a business, and Hong Kong's Basic Law, were also

grey areas of the Ordinance, such as fees payable for block

organized during the year.

exemption order applications, determination of turnover of an
undertaking, revised draft guidelines, and draft cartel leniency

Other issues which occupied the committee's time in 2015

policy.

included drafting submissions on the enactment of apology
legislation, the SFC's 'Principles of Responsible Ownership,' and

To educate members on the details of the Competition

amendments to the Patents Bill.

Ordinance, the committee organized a number of seminars
with local and overseas experts, included a London Silk

Manpower Committee

who spoke about the criminal aspects of the Competition

Some highly controversial issues, such as standard working

Ordinance. A seminar on the block exemption order in

hours, and the MPF offsetting of the severance & long service

cooperation with the Hong Kong Liner Shipping Association

payments, were the focus of the committee's work in 2015. On

In June, the Chamber also met with representatives from the

standard working hours, the Chamber proposed that employment

Federation of Hong Kong & Kowloon Labour Unions, led by

contracts specifying clearly the terms of employment, including

Federation Chairman Ng Wai Yee, and exchanged views on

working hours and overtime compensation, among other

various labour-related issues.

measures, should be used instead of legislation. We also
expressed grave concerns about the possible abolition of the

To keep members up to date on manpower trends and

offsetting mechanism of employer contributions to MPF to

challenges, the committee invited over 200 business leaders,

long service and severance payments. The Chamber stressed

people management specialists, academics, and senior

that any change to this proven mechanism would significantly

government officials to its biennial CEO Manpower Conference in

increase the operating costs of enterprises, especially SMEs, and

October. The theme for 2015 was: "The Future of Work," which

further weaken Hong Kong's competitiveness. We urged the

examined how technology will shape workforces and businesses

Government to conduct a regulatory impact assessment before

in the coming years. Other talks and training programmes

making any changes to this long-standing mechanism. We said

were arranged to help members and their staff hone their

that the performance and charges of MPF schemes should also

skills and knowledge on a wide variety of topics. These ranged

be included when reviewing the MPF scheme, instead of singling

from frontline training workshops for staff to business strategy

out the offsetting mechanism.

programmes to help members increase their competitiveness.

Real Estate & Infrastructure Committee

Government, LegCo and public to support was the expansion

Land and infrastructure continued to be the focus of the

of the airport, which is expected to reach saturation point earlier

committee's work in 2015. Senior government officials,

than originally projected. The Chamber stressed that growth

professors and industry experts shared their views with members

constraints at the airport would also constrain Hong Kong's

on the future land development and supply of Hong Kong,

development.

including exploring the development of greenbelt and brownfield
sites. The issue relating to land lease of Hong Kong beyond 2047

The committee presented two submissions to the Government

was also discussed, with the consensus being that 2047 should

in response to public consultations on the Topside Development

not constitute a material consideration where the duration of a

at Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities Island of Hong Kong-

lease was concerned as there were already existing cases where

Zhuhai-Macao Bridge, and the Proposed Security of Payment

lease terms were granted beyond 2047.

Legislation for the Construction Industry.

Filibustering in LegCo delayed the start of crucial infrastructure

Retail & Tourism Committee

projects, but members discussed the need to quickly build green

The retail and tourism sector took a bit of a knock in the latter

incinerators to cope with Hong Kong's rapidly filling rubbish

half of 2015 as protests and anti-Mainland tourists sentiment

dumps. Another crucial project that the Chamber lobbied the

resulted in a decline in Mainland visitors. The Chamber urged

insights on retailing in Hong Kong and overseas. Experts from

the Government to address the problem, which was exacerbated

PricewaterhouseCoopers, CBRE and Baker & McKenzie also

by congestion caused by parallel traders, as protests against

spoke to the committee on retail trends as well as the dos and

visitors would turn more tourists away and create a ripple effect

don'ts of the Competition Ordinance.

across a wide range of sectors.

Shipping & Transport Committee
Representatives from Mead Johnson Nutrition and Wyeth

The committee continued to advocate maximizing container

Nutrition expressed their concerns to the committee on the

throughput capacity and enhancing the efficiency of port facilities

Government consultation on Nutrition and Health Claims on

by making better use of port back-up land in Kwai Tsing. The

Infant formula, Follow-up Formula, and Pre-packaged Foods for

committee built on its 2014 submission to present an additional

Infants and Young Children Under the Age of 36 Months and

paper in 2015 stressing the Chamber's position in response to

the possible breach of Hong Kong's WTO obligation to restrict

the Government's proposals on port back-up land in Kwai Tsing.

marketing of formula and child nutrition products.
To update members on storage and warehouse facilities in Hong
To help members learn about online shopping trends, omni-

Kong and Mainland China, following a report issued by CBRE

channel retailing and RFID technology, the committee invited

revealing that retailers lacked warehouse facilities, the committee

Anna Lin, Chief Executive of GS1 Hong Kong, to share her

invited Billy Wong, Principal Economist (Greater China), Hong

The Chamber supported the Government's "Mediate First"

Kong Trade Development Council, to brief members on the

Pledge campaign, which aimed to increase SMEs' awareness of

development of the Zhuhai-Hong Kong-Macao Cooperative

using mediation as a tool to resolve disputes before resorting

Logistics Park in Zhuhai. In other meetings, experts spoke on

to costly litigation. SME Committee Chairman William Wong

logistics requirements of cross-border e-commerce, including

and some committee members represented the Chamber as a

requirements of storage and warehouse facilities, as well as the

supporting organization by signing the "Mediate First Pledge."

warehouse supply and demand situation in Hong Kong.
The committee organized several roundtable luncheons on

Small & Medium Enterprises Committee

digital marketing, mobile app marketing as well as O2O business

The weak global economy made 2015 a difficult year for many

strategy to help members understand more about the growing

SMEs. To support businesses' efforts to explore new markets,

popularity of e-commerce and mobile tools. On the softer side

the Chamber submitted the committee's views to the Trade and

of business, 80 members attended a "Meet the Master Chef"

Industry Department on strengthening SME funding schemes,

luncheon in July to network and enjoy award-winning dishes

especially the SME Export Marketing Fund. We suggested

prepared by one of China's top-10 "Master Chefs" Ho Chi

replacing the total cumulative grant of $200,000 for each

Keung.

applicant to a limit that could be reset after a fixed period.

Taxation Committee

To keep members abreast of the changing regulatory landscape,

The Committee focused a lot of its energy in 2015 on lobbying

the committee organized talks on a wide range of issues, such

the Government to mitigate the impact that international tax

as year-end payroll, OECD's Common Reporting Standard, and

transparency regimes might inflict on Hong Kong as a place to do

tax audits, among others. The committee continued to provide

business. In response to a consultation exercise on the proposed

input to the Government through its Joint Liaison Committee on

modalities for an Automatic Exchange of Information (AEOI)

Taxation (JLCT) representative, and wrote contributions to The

regime to be implemented sometime in 2016, the Chamber

Bulletin on taxation issues, and updates on taxation regimes for

expressed concerns about the burden that this would impose on

some of Hong Kong's major trading partners.

employers and businesses. We stressed that financial institutions
would be particularly affected, and called for a comprehensive
impact assessment to be conducted on how the change would
affect Hong Kong's competitiveness. Elizabeth Tse, Permanent
Secretary for the Financial Services and the Treasury (Treasury),
exchanged views with members on the Government's policy on
AEOI and Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS), both initiated
by the OECD to combat tax evasion, tax avoidance and to recover
taxes due.

Building Connections

In 2015, the Chamber organized over 250 events, hosted dozens of
incoming delegations, and held regular committee meetings to provide
members with hundreds of opportunities to deepen their knowledge
and expand their networks in Hong Kong, in Mainland China and
around the world

Hong Kong

Chamber organized a Joint Business Community Luncheon

The Chamber's biennial CEO Manpower Conference in October

with Chief Executive Leung Chun-ying on 9 February. The Chief

attracted over 200 HR professionals, business leaders, and

Executive elaborated on his plans laid out in his Policy Address

government officials to discuss how technology is driving

to improve the supply of land, make better use of brownfield

demand for new talent and skills in today's workplace. They also

sites, reduce planning red tape and ensure that adequate skilled

discussed whether or not IT can address the challenges facing

workers are available in the economy.

companies' manpower needs. Titled "The Future of Work," the
cream of Hong Kong's HR professionals and business leaders

In the following month, the Financial Secretary John C Tsang spoke

shared how technology was changing the nature of work in their

about his 2015-2016 Budget at a Joint Business Community

businesses, and the subsequent implications on organizations

Luncheon organized by the Chamber. While Hong Kong has

and employees.

a handsome budget surplus, he warned businesses and the
community that the Government would continue to prudently

In addition to labour shortages, another pressing issue affecting

keep a tight rein on spending as the global economic outlook was

Hong Kong continued to be the lack of developable land. To

gloomy.

present what work the Government was doing to address
property shortages and other concerns of the community, the

To give members the opportunity to hear what specific policies

successful entrepreneurs about their management and business

government Secretaries were focusing on in the coming

philosophy. Many of the speakers were household names in

years, the Chamber organized 10 Town Hall Forums during

Hong Kong, ranging from Cafe de Coral's Chairman Dr Michael

the year in review. These talks explored a wide range of policy

Y K Chan to Centaline Property Agency Limited's Founder Shih

matters, ranging from population policy to enhancing Hong

Wing Ching.

Kong's competitiveness to constitutional development. Invited
government officials included Secretary for Justice Rimsky Yuen,

Global business leaders also shared their views with members.

Secretary for Commerce and Economic Development Gregory

Paul Polman, Chief Executive Officer of Unilever, spoke at the

So, Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury K C Chan,

Chamber's Distinguished Speakers' Series Luncheon on 15

Executive Council Non-official Members Anna Wu, Fanny Law

September on how stakeholders are starting to realize that the

and Laura Cha, and Legislative Council Member James Tien,

cost of embarking on a sustainable development path sooner,

among others (a complete list can be found in Snapshot on

rather than later, will save them money, boost profits, and make

page 4).

those businesses stronger, even in times of difficulties.

The ongoing Entrepreneur Series continued to be very popular,
as it provided the opportunity for members to hear directly from

Site Inspection Programmes

design of the Civil Aviation Department Headquarters, and

The Chamber's site inspection visits remained very popular

Courtyard by Marriott. Members also saw renewable energy

among members during the year under review, so much so

facilities in use at Town Island, waste being treated at Tseung

that the Chamber expanded its range and number of visits

Kwan O Landfill, as well as paper and metal recycling facilities at

to meet members' expectations. The Industry & Technology

Kin Xun.

Committee continued to take the lead in organizing visits, which
gave members unique behind-the-scenes access to various

The Digital, Information & Telecommunications Committee

sites. These included visiting HK Electric's cable tunnel and

organized a visit to CUHK's Marketing Engineering Lab and

system control centre, CityU's Creative Media and Smart APPS

KPMG's Insights Centre to learn how data analytics helps

laboratories, ASTRI's R&D labs, HKPC's 3D printing services, and

enterprises formulate marketing strategies, while a visit to

HAECO's aircraft maintenance facilities.

Good Lab showcased how co-working spaces were incubating
startups. Members also visited Ricoh's state-of-the-art printing

The Environment & Sustainability Committee organized several

facilities to see applications for 3D printing in the education,

green tours to show how members can benefit from sustainable

medical service and construction sectors.

development. Visits were arranged to study the green building

The Real Estate & Infrastructure Committee visited H.A.N.D.S.,

Tom Lee Music's headquarters in Tsim Sha Tsui is one of

a newly renovated shopping centre and fresh market in Tuen

the largest in Southeast Asia. To see how the company has

Mun. The complex showcased how an old shopping mall and

remained competitive over so many years, the Retail and Tourism

wet market, under Link REIT, had been revitalized into a modern

Committee organized a visit to the store, where members

and green shopping facility. The committee also organized visits

were impressed by the variety of merchandise and services

to two major MTR facilities – the Express Rail Link Visitors Centre

offered to customers. Members also visited the Customs &

in Austin and the Operations Control Centre in Tsing Yi, where

Excise Department's headquarters to learn how the department

members learned about the progress of the Express Rail Link

combats smuggling and upholds Hong Kong's trading integrity.

and the state-of-the-art West Kowloon Terminus.

Members had the opportunity to visit the indoor firing range and
the Electronic Crime Investigation Centre, and to see the potential

The Manpower Committee organized visits to see how wellknown companies train and retain staff. These included visits
to Cathay Pacific's recruitment and training facilities, and the
Savannah College of Art and Design, which prides itself on
preparing students to become tomorrow's creative leaders.

applications for 3-D printing.

Mainland China

our High-level Business Mission to Beijing in December. The

Two national initiatives dominated the focus of Mainland policy

Chamber's 36-member delegation was welcomed by Luo

th

direction in 2015 – China's 13 Five-Year Plan, and the Belt &

Fuhe, Vice Chairman of the National Committee of the Chinese

Road initiative. The China Committee organized a number of

People's Political Consultative Conference, Zhou Bo, Deputy

seminars and discussions to keep members abreast of these

Director, Hong Kong and Macao Affairs Office of the State

developments, and also prepared a submission on Hong Kong's

Council, and Zhang Ji, Assistant Minister of Commerce, in addition

role in the 13 Five-Year Plan for the Central and Hong Kong

to other senior officials.

th

governments' consideration. The committee also organized
roundtables and seminars on timely topics affecting companies

In total, the Chamber led nine missions to the Mainland in

doing business in the Mainland, with topics ranging from

2015 – Nanshan & Shekou, Shenzhen Metro Line 4, Zhuhai &

financial and tax reforms, to public-private partnership and the

Hengqin, Zhongshan, Tianjin, Wuhan, Xiamen, and Hunan. When

internationalization of the renminbi.

not building connections in the Mainland, the China Committee
welcomed 38 visiting delegations and co-organized 70 events

The Belt & Road initiative was also highlighted in many of the
Chamber's missions to the Mainland in 2015, in particular

in Hong Kong, in addition to hosting a cocktail reception with

– Beijing Investment Promotion Bureau;

Mainland officials and businesses.

– The Union of Beijing Business Services;
– Jiangxi Commerce Bureau; and

The Chamber continued to maintain close ties with Mainland

– Hunan Commerce Bureau.

businesses and participated in a number of meetings, including
the Hong Kong-Mainland Joint Business Liaison Committee

Taiwan Interest Group

Meeting, Upgrading and Transformation of Hong Kong Enterprises

With the Taiwan election taking place in January 2016, the

in Dongguan Joint Meeting, and a High-Level Roundtable Meeting

Chamber organized a roundtable luncheon in November 2015

among key Chambers of Commerce in Guangdong, Hong Kong

to update members on how the election outcome might impact

and Macao.

Taiwan politics and the island's relations with Hong Kong as well
as Mainland China.

The Chamber signed four memorandums of understanding
to strengthen ties and expand cooperation with Mainland
organizations.

Americas Committee

with respective country government representatives in Hong

The Americas Committee continued to help members connect

Kong, as well as other members involved in doing business with

with businesses and government bodies from North, Central and

the Americas.

South America. The committee continued its exclusive visits to
the homes of Consuls General in Hong Kong, where members

The committee also organized talks on unlocking Latin America's

had an opportunity to chat informally with Consuls General and

potential, a Country Briefing Series roundtable on Colombia, as

their key staff. During 2015, members visited the residence of

well as a talk by Purdue University's President Mitchell E. Daniels,

the Consul General of Canada Ian Burchett in August, and in

Jr on the United States' prospects in 2016. In addition, members

December to the home of the Consul General of the United

welcomed delegations visiting Hong Kong from Canada, the

States of America Clifford A. Hart.

United States, Mexico, Colombia and Peru, who were eager to
meet with Hong Kong businesses.

Members also had the chance to meet with all Consuls General
of the Americas at the popular Cocktail Reception in Honour
of Consuls General of the Americas in Hong Kong. The event
provided an excellent networking platform for members to meet

Asia & Africa Committee

on India, West Africa, and Iran. Two cocktail receptions in

The Chamber's Asia & Africa Committee put a lot of effort into

honour of Consuls General of the Asia, Africa and Middle East

strengthening ties with organizations from Asia, Africa and the

regions in Hong Kong were organized in May and September,

Middle East. It also helped members focus on new trends, such

respectively, for members to expand their connections with

as the increasing attraction of Japan as a destination for travel,

official government representatives. Members also expanded

business and investment. Speakers at a joint luncheon with

their networks globally by meeting with incoming delegations

the Hong Kong Japanese Chamber of Commerce & Industry in

from Nigeria, Iran, Kazakhstan, Israel, Zimbabwe, Dubai and

August, and also an "Invest Japan Symposium" co-organized

UAE, among others.

with JETRO in July, provided members with timely insights
on the country's ongoing economic reforms and investment

To expand cooperation with other Chamber committees, a

opportunities.

joint two-day visit to Zhongshan was organized for members
in September. Jointly led by General Committee member

The popular Country Briefing Series also zoomed in on
interesting markets and opportunities, with talks organized

Edmond Yue and Asia & Africa Committee Chairman Andrew

Wells, members called on local government officials to learn

the opening of Expo Milano, the delegation also explored the

about development plans for the area, as well as investment

Expo, the theme of which was "Feeding the World." During a

opportunities.

meeting with the Chamber of Commerce of Spain in Madrid,
the Chamber signed a Memorandum of Understanding to

Europe Committee

expand trade and cooperation between Hong Kong and Spanish

A focus for the committee in 2015 was its mission to Italy and

companies.

Spain. Europe has changed significantly since the financial crisis,
so the committee decided to visit Milan, Barcelona and Madrid

To educate members on opportunities in Spain and Italy prior

in May to explore business opportunities in the three cities. Led

to the mission, the committee organized Country Briefing Series

by the Chamber's European Committee Chairman Neville Shroff,

roundtable luncheons on Spain and Italy, as well as a talk by the

the delegation explored various opportunities in technology,

head of the Office of the European Union in Hong Kong, Vincent

design, fashion, F&B and property. They visited businesses

Piket. Two cocktail receptions in honour of Consuls General of

and government officials in the cities and conducted business

the European Region in Hong Kong were organized in June

matching and networking sessions. As the visit coincided with

and November, respectively, to boost members' connections

Limited; Viveca Chan, Chairman and CEO of WE Group; and

with European officials, while a steady inflow of visitors from all

Fanny Law Fan Chiu-fun, Chairperson of Hong Kong Science

over Europe helped members expand their overseas networks,

& Technology Parks Corporation. The club also co-organized

including Carlos Espinosa de los Monteros, High Commission for

a forum with IESE Business School and the Government of

Brand Spain.

Catalonia on 2 December titled "Breaking the Glass Ceiling –
Empowering Women Leaders."

Women Executives Club
The Women Executives Club (WEC) had a busy year as it

Social and lifestyle events were organized throughout the year,

organized a wide range of events for members, from networking

including networking dinners, a cocktail reception at Max Mara's

events to knowledge sharing talks to social gatherings. On

Central store, workshops on jewellery appreciation at TSL

the business side, a number of successful women spoke at

Jewellery, as well as wine and cheese etiquette.

WEC's ongoing Breakfast Meeting Series, including: Betty Yuen,
Vice Chairman of CLP Power Hong Kong Limited; Annie Tse,
Chairman and CEO of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International)

Young Executives Club

A key event for YEC during the year under review was

The Young Executives Club (YEC) kicked off the year with a

establishing two teams to participate in Hong Kong Oxfam

cocktail reception on 29 January to help spread the word about

Trailwalker. The two teams of walkers, backed by support

YEC and its objectives. It also organized lifestyle / networking

members, generated a total of HK$244,000 in donations and

events at Brooks Brothers Central Flagship Store and S.T. Dupont

were awarded the Outstanding Fundraiser Awards by Oxfam.

at Harvey Nichols.
Another meaningful CSR activity was a career talk in July. TwentyTo help young executives benefit from seasoned business

nine YEC members spoke with over 60 students from local

figures, luncheon talks were organized with former Chief

secondary schools to share their personal career stories and

Secretary for Administration Henry Tang, and the Global Director

offer advice to the students on their studies and careers.

of PR Newswire Michael Pranikoff, respectively. Workshops
were also organized to sharpen members' professional and
social skills, from dinning etiquette, latte art, to coding for
mobile apps.

Chamber Development

The Chamber expanded its facilities, services and events in 2015 –
from a completely renovated headquarters to the launch of its mobile app –
to provide additional value to Chamber membership

Membership

helped members grow their business, and led to the best

The Chamber recorded another positive year for membership

membership renewal rate in many years.

in 2015, due to the Membership Division's efforts to deliver
improved services and cultivate better business relationships

On recruitment, the division experimented with various

with members. With the collective support of the Secretariat,

marketing approaches and diverse promotional plans to appeal

the Chamber also provided an enriched programme of events

to a wider range of businesses and broaden its membership

to keep members abreast of the latest industry trends and

profile. The Chamber also looked at how it can better utilize

economic developments. It also provided more attentive and

online platforms to appeal to a wider and younger generation

personalized services to better meet members' needs.

of members. The launch of the Chamber's app, HKGCC Mobile,
in September was the start of more ongoing initiatives that

We reached out to members to foster closer connections and

will deliver more quality services and ultimately enhance the

partnership, extended exclusive invitations to members to attend

overall membership experience of members, both online and

events and offered complimentary advertising platforms through

in person.

the enhanced Membership Benefits programme. The initiative

Training Service

Community Engagement

The Chamber organized over 90 training workshops during
the year under review. Essential communications skills, such

Media Relations

as building better relations in the workplace, presentation skills

To ensure the Chamber's views and positions are clearly made

and press release writing skills remained highly popular courses

known to the public, the Chamber constantly strives to enhance

among members and their staff. Developing effective leaders

its relations with media. In February, the Chamber's CEO hosted

and employee engagement were two other courses that were

a tea gathering with the members of the media to discuss the

attractive to members. Several e-marketing and digital workshops

importance of setting up an Innovation and Technology Bureau.

were organized to enhance members' knowledge about the

Other gatherings organized during the year with senior reporters

latest technology and new social media strategies. Relevancy

and editors allowed the Chamber's leadership to exchange

and timeliness are the keys for training and development, so the

views on key issues affecting Hong Kong, including population

Chamber will continue to work closely with our training providers

policy, standard working hours, minimum wage, MPF offsetting

to develop up-to-date and relevant workshops for the benefit of

and a proposed two-tiered tax system.

Chamber members and their staff.

We also issued regular press releases to inform the press

are popular among visitors. We will continue to work using social

about our policy submissions and important policies impacting

media, in conjunction with our other online platforms, including

businesses and Hong Kong, such as the "Belt & Road" initiatives

HKGCC Mobile, to disseminate news about the Chamber's work.

and constitutional reform. Meanwhile, we contributed Op-Eds
and wrote articles for magazines on topical issues, as well as

HKGCC Mobile App

softer articles on entrepreneurialism and members' success

As more and more people now use their mobile device as

stories for business magazines.

their primary tool for communication, the Chamber set up an
organizing team in early 2015 to work with a mobile app vendor

The PR team continued to make good use of social media, with

to conceptualize, design and plan what functions the app should

Facebook and LinkedIn being the two most visited social media,

include. The app, HKGCC Mobile, was soft launched on 1

followed by Flickr and Instagram. The platforms have enabled

September as a free download on both iTunes and Google Play

the Chamber to reach a wider audience and promote the work

platforms. Both members and non-members can install the app,

and concerns of the Chamber. These are not always hard-nosed

but when members log in, they activate all functions of the app,

business issues, as softer issues, such as the CSR efforts of the
Chamber and its members, as well as "behind the scenes" posts

such as being able to watch videos of past events, download

members are now using the magazine to share their expertise

PowerPoint presentations, economic updates and analysis, and

with readers and promote their own businesses by contributing

exchange electronic business cards.

insightful articles, which is an added member benefit and
enriches the contents of the magazine.

The app also saves users' time, as they can quickly and easily
register and pay for Chamber events via the app, receive instant

To reach more people, the printed circulation was expanded

confirmation of their booking, and check in within seconds at

during the year to target businesses and organizations, while

events simply by showing their unique QR Code to staff. The

the number of downloads of the online Bulletin continues

Chamber will continue to fine-tune the app, and increasingly use

to steadily grow. In 2015, the average downloads per month

it as a primary tool to communicate with members.

reached 35,000. Members who have installed the Chamber's
app can also read a digital copy of the magazine a week before

The Bulletin
The Chamber's monthly magazine, The Bulletin, is a useful tool
for keeping members informed of Chamber news and activities,
as well as alerting them of potential opportunities. More

it is distributed.

Free Ride Day

We also ran a "Free Ride Day Photo Competition" on Instagram.

To celebrate our 154th anniversary on 29 May, the Chamber

Members had the chance to win a HKGCC souvenir simply

organized its fifth "Free Ride Day," which allowed everyone in

by taking a photo of the Chamber's logo or any participating

Hong Kong to ride on trams and two Star Ferry routes free of

member companies' logo and tagging it on the photo-sharing

charge for the entire day. Over 50 members, Chamber staff, and

site. Over 300,000 passengers benefited from Free Ride Day,

members of the media, together with Chamber Chairman Y K

which was made possible by the generous support of the 52

Pang, used the occasion to wish all companies a healthy and

participating and supporting members, as well as three media

prosperous year ahead, and called on the entire community to

partners who helped make Free Ride Day such a success.

all work together to build a prosperous future for Hong Kong.

Good Citizen Award
As part of the celebrations leading up to 29 May and to help

As the sole sponsor of the Good Citizen Award (GCA) since

spread news about Free Ride Day, the Chamber ran a "Chamber

1973, the Chamber remains committed to supporting this very

Quiz" on our Facebook page. The campaign also helped the

worthy programme. Upholding law and order is vital for the

community gain a better understanding of the Chamber's work.

long-term stability and economic success of Hong Kong. The

was launched in 2015 to allow students to participate in relevant

Hong Kong Police Public Relations Branch organizes two awards

business events for their own benefit. A year-end closing

presentation ceremonies every year to commend the courage

ceremony was organized in July 2015 to mark the end of the

and bravery of our Good Citizens who helped the police arrest

programme for the 2014/2015 school year, at which members

criminals. In 2015, two awards presentation ceremonies took

of the Chamber's Young Executives Club spoke with students on

place in February and June respectively, commending a total of

business and work, as well as offered friendly career advice to

80 exemplary citizens.

students.

Business-School Partnership Programme

Community-wide Participation

Since its establishment in 2001, the Chamber's Business-

In addition to the Chamber's larger community outreach

School Partnership Programme has continued to grow, and

programmes, such as Free Ride Day and the Good Citizen

gained wider recognition and support from both businesses and

Award, Chamber staff also planned their own CSR projects

schools. A record of 60 local secondary schools and member

during the year. In July, staff organized a visit to Ma Cheng Shuk

companies enrolled in the programme for the 2015/2016

Ying Home for Elderly in Sham Shui Po, and also a day out

school year. A new Chamber Student Ambassador Programme

to Ocean Park with children from HKEC Yan Lam Community

Chamber Manpower

Service Centre in Sheung Shui to learn about environmental

The buoyant labour market resulted in some staff turnover

protection and to have a fun day out. In October, staff visited

during the year. Staff headcount was maintained at 109 as of the

Banyan Elderly Service Association in Wong Tai Sin, to bring a

end of the year under review to cope with the expansion of the

bit of Mid-Autumn Festival fun to the elderly. Staff also brought

Chamber's activities. Various staff activities were organized during

some Christmas cheer to senior citizens in Sham Shui Po on 23

the year to boost a sense of belonging to the Chamber. These

December by handing out food parcels and presents.

included a staff retreat and team-building exercise, encouraging
staff to participate in CSR activities, and presenting exemplary

We also co-organized the Hong Kong Occupational Safety &
Health Award, supported the "Future Stars" Programme under
the Commission on Poverty, the Community Chest, Hong Kong
Red Cross Blood Donation, ORBIS World Sight Day, WWF's
Earth Hour, and sponsored two teams in the Oxfam Trailwalker
2015, who raised almost a quarter of a million dollars. We
were awarded the Caring Organization logo for the second
consecutive year and also received the Good MPF Employer
Award in 2015.

employees with an award during the staff's annual dinner.

General Resources Management

Carnets. A Grand Opening Ceremony took place on 22 January

To provide members with better services and facilities, the

2016, at which Financial Secretary John Tsang was the officiating

Chamber began major renovations of its head office in Admiralty

guest. Around 200 Chamber committee members, Chamber

in June 2015. Conducted in phases to minimize disruption to

Council members, Consuls General, guests and friends of the

members and events, the renovations took around six months

Chamber attended the housewarming party.

to complete. The new office has three fully equipped theatres,
which can be expanded into one large venue for large-scale

The renovations also enabled the Chamber to reinforce its

events. It also has three meeting rooms and one VIP room for

efforts to be more environmental friendly, as we are one of the

members and staff to use, in addition to a breakout area.

Carbon Reduction Certificate holders in the Hong Kong Awards
for Environmental Excellence. We also participated in the

A significant addition to the new office was the opening of the

Energy Saving Charter on Indoor Temperature, organized by the

Chamber's eighth Certification Office, which offers a full range of

Electrical and Mechanical Service Department.

business documentation services, and exclusive issuance of ATA

Chamber Services Limited

honoured at the event, which saw a full house of some 800

Chamber Services Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of

guests, and officiated over by the Financial Secretary John Tsang.

the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce. Leveraging

Chamber Services Limited was the event organizer of the event.

the extensive networks and business knowledge of HKGCC,
the company provides a full range of professional event

The company also organized a wide variety of smaller scale

management and public relations services to members and

events for members and private clients in 2015. Two tailor-

corporate clients.

made management training programmes were organized
for 80 Mainland businessmen, who learned about modern

One of the key projects it managed in 2015 was the Hong Kong

management practices at workshops and site visits to renowned

Awards for Industries Awards Presentation Ceremony-cum-

Hong Kong enterprises.

Gala Dinner on 14 December. A total of 67 companies were

Certification Division

The Certification Division opened its eighth business documentation
office in the Chamber's headquarters in Admiralty to address the needs
of trading companies in Wan Chai and other parts of Hong Kong Island
needing quality and reliable business documentation services

The Chamber further expanded the number of its branch

Online Services

certification offices during the year in review with its eighth business

Riding on the success of its online CO service, the division

documentation office opening in the Chamber's headquarters in

enhanced its online Carnet platform. The updated system allows

United Centre. The new office provides a full range of services,

applicants to import descriptions of goods from their Excel file

including Certificate of Origin (CO), Certification of Documents,

into the online data sheet. This new feature significantly reduces

ATA Carnet, Consulate Endorsement Facilitation (CEF), and Trade

the time needed for customers to complete their Carnet forms.

Declarations. The ATA Carnet service is now only available at the
Admiralty branch. This is the second branch on Hong Kong Island.

To use the new service, applicants simply log in at http://
webcarnet.hk, input their data and then submit their forms

Due to the continuing global economic malaise, demand for

electronically. Upon filling in the form correctly and providing all

COs declined by about 3% in 2015 over the previous year. ATA

the necessary documents, applicants can collect their Carnet at

Carnet services also saw a fall in demand. However, the growing

the Chamber's Admiralty office after two working days. Besides

popularity of the Certification of Documents service saw the

being more efficient and environmentally friendly, users can also

number of documents issued rise by 4.3% over 2014.

check the progress of their application and make amendments
at any time before picking up their Carnet.

Despite a challenging year, the division processed a total of
311,372 applications for various trade documents, which resulted
in income for the year sliding 3.8% over 2014's total.

The Chamber is the sole approved body in Hong Kong for

for decades. The Certification Division certifies thousands

the issue of ATA Carnets. Carnets are international customs

of trade documents every month, including company registry,

documents which permit trade samples, exhibition goods and

business registration, trademarks, contracts, reports, invoices, B/L,

professional equipment to be taken across frontiers without

etc. For 2015, the division issued a record 58,617 certificates.

payment of duties or taxes. In 2015, due to a decline in demand
for luxury goods in the Mainland, demand for Carnets declined

Outlook

to 4,619. These covered mainly jewellery, arts and crafts valued

Given the global trend for simplifying trade documentation,

at HK$13 billion.

coupled with weak export demand, growth for the CO Division
is expected to be weak in the coming year. Coupled with

Certification of Documents

weak demand for luxury goods in China expecting to prolong

Many countries require that trade documents must be certified

the decline in ATA Carnets and paper-to-electronic conversion

by a competent Chamber of Commerce to ensure their

services, the division is facing a challenging future. However,

custodian's legitimacy before they can be accepted as valid.

one bright spot is the increasing demand of certification of
documents services, backed by the launch of a certified invoice

The Chamber is an internationally recognized organization
that has been providing certification of documents services

service.

Public Finances (HK$ Billion, FY April - March)
2011-12
2012-13
2013-14
2014-15
2015-16
2016-17 (budget)

Operating Revenue

Operating Expenditure

Operating Balance

Fiscal Reserves (FY-end)

339.4
344.6
355.3
393.9
387.6
398.2

296.4
302.9
337.7
316.3
339.3
376.8

43.0
41.7
17.6
77.6
48.3
21.4

662.1
734.0
749.5
828.5
859.0
870.4

2011
3,981
3,516
85
3,431
7,497
(464)
(11.7)

Merchandise Trade (HK$ Billion)
Total Imports (c.i.f.)
Total Exports (f.o.b.)
– Domestic Exports
– Re-exports
Total Trade
Trade Balance
– As a Percent of Imports

2012
4,101
3,582
94
3,488
7,683
(519)
(12.7)

2013
4,395
3,816
92
3,724
8,211
(579)
(13.2)

2014
4,434
3,848
95
3,754
8,282
(586)
(13.2)

2015
4,323
3,782
84
3,698
8,105
(541)
(12.5)

Services Trade					
Exports of Services
988
1,009
1,058
1,070
1,063
Imports of Services
452
460
467
476
501
Two-way Services Trade
1,439
1,469
1,526
1,546
1,564
Services Balance
536
549
591
593
562
Merchandise Exports: Major Markets (% Share)				
Mainland China
52.4
54.1
54.8
53.9
USA
9.9
9.9
9.3
9.3
Japan
4.0
4.2
3.8
3.6
India
2.8
2.2
2.3
2.6
Germany
2.7
2.3
2.1
2.0
Taiwan
2.6
2.4
2.2
2.2

53.7
9.5
3.4
2.8
2.0
1.8

Merchandise Imports: Major Suppliers (% Share)
Mainland China
Japan
Singapore
Taiwan
USA
Korea

49.1
6.4
6.1
6.8
5.2
4.3

Imports by End-Use (HK$ Million)
Foodstuffs
Consumer Goods
Fuels
Raw Materials & Manufactures
Capital Goods

			
45.1
47.1
47.8
47.1
8.5
8.0
7.1
6.8
6.8
6.3
6.1
6.2
6.4
6.3
6.4
7.1
5.6
5.2
5.4
5.2
4.0
3.9
3.9
4.2
145.3
939.1
146.0
1,298.6
1,238.5

150.8
945.4
141.9
1,285.3
1,391.5

169.8
934.9
137.2
1,361.2
1,461.8

187.1
947.8
122.0
1,473.1
1,495.4

172.6
862.9
93.8
1,418.7
1,502.9

Re-exports by End-Use (HK$ Billion)					
Foodstuffs
39.2
39.5
42.9
47.4
48.7
Consumer goods
884.6
867.4
841.7
828.1
776.7
Raw materials and semi-manufactures
1,117.0
1,110.4
1,169.1
1,237.5
1,240.1
Fuels
4.6
6.7
5.8
4.8
3.7
Capital goods
1,230.0
1,354.3
1,448.0
1,502.1
1,491.7

Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce

Annual Report 2015

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce

(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Hong Kong General
Chamber of Commerce (the “Chamber”) and its subsidiary (together “the group”)
set out on pages 70 to 87, which comprise the consolidated financial position as
at 31 December 2015, the consolidated income and expenditure statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

General Committee’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

The General Committee of the Chamber is responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal
control as the General Committee determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the General Committee, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the group as at 31 December 2015 and of the group’s financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Signed KPMG
Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong
24 March 2016

Consolidated income and expenditure statement
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
		
		

Note

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Income
Members’ subscriptions		
12,138
11,621
Fees
11
52,827
55,033
Interest and dividends
12
5,369
4,730
Publications and promotion, net
13
1,819
1,972
Commission income		
228
213
Rental income from operating leases		
4,110
5,234
Net realised gains on available-for-sale debt
14
6,071
11,804
and equity securities		
________
________
		82,562
90,607
			
-------------------------Expenditure
Staff
15
(49,775)
Office
16
(5,976)
Services
17
(3,325)
Depreciation of fixed assets
4(a)
(4,880)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment		
(423)
Subscriptions and donations
18
(443)
Exchange loss		
(38)
			
________
		(64,860)
			
________
-------------

(47,981)
(5,292)
(3,145)
(4,488)
(798)
(18)
________
(61,722)
________
--------------

Surplus before taxation		17,702

28,885

19
(374)
Income
tax
			
________

(670)
________

21
17,328
Surplus for the year
			
======

28,215
======

The notes on pages 73 to 87 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
			
		

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Surplus
for the year		17,328
			
-------------

28,215
--------------

Other comprehensive income for the year
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Available-for-sale securities:			
– Changes in fair value recognised during the year		
(4,886)
1,594
– Reclassification adjustments for amounts
			
transferred to income and expenditure 		
________
(2,095)
________
(4,297)
Other
comprehensive income, net of nil tax effect		(6,981)
			
________
-------------

(2,703)
________
--------------

Total comprehensive income for the year		10,347
			
======

25,512
======

The notes on pages 73 to 87 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2015 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
		
		
Non-current assets			

Note

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Investment properties
4(a)
20,724
			
Other property, plant and equipment
4(a)
________
84,027

52,075
________
46,489

		104,751

98,564

Non-current financial assets

5

308,504

310,080

Deferred tax assets

10(b)

116

14

Current assets
Accounts with investment manager
Debtors, deposits and prepayments
Current tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

6
7
10(a)
8

28,207
2,869
134
89,417

27,333
2,942
89,766

			
		120,627
________

________
120,041

		533,998
			
-------------

528,699
--------------

Current liabilities
Creditors and accrued charges
9
35,520
Subscriptions received in advance		
15,923
Current tax payable
10(a)
			
		51,443
			
-------------

56,491
--------------

NET ASSETS		482,555
			
======

472,208
======

General fund		401,765

384,437

			
________
Fair value reserve		80,790

________
87,771

TOTAL EQUITY		482,555
			
======

472,208
======

Approved and authorised for issue by the General Committee on 24 March 2016.
Y K Pang

Chairman

Stephen Ng

Deputy Chairman

Shirley Yuen

CEO

Shirley Loo

Treasurer

The notes on pages 73 to 87 form part of these financial statements.

39,968
16,483
40

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
		
General
fund

Fair value
reserve

Total
equity

		$’000

$’000

$’000

Balance at 1 January 2014		356,222

90,474

446,696

Changes in equity for 2014:		
Surplus for the year		 28,215
28,215
		________
					
Other comprehensive income		
- ________
(2,703) ________
(2,703)
		________
					
Total comprehensive income for the year		 28,215 ________
(2,703) ________
25,512
384,437
87,771 472,208
Balance at 31 December 2014
and 1 January 2015		
Changes in equity for 2015:		
Surplus for the year		
17,328
17,328
		________
					
Other comprehensive income		
- ________
(6,981) ________
(6,981)
		________
					
Total comprehensive income for the year		
17,328 ________
(6,981) ________
10,347
401,765
80,790 482,555
Balance at 31 December 2015		
		======
					
====== ======
The notes on pages 73 to 87 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
		
Note
2015
$’000
		
Operating activities			
Cash generated from operations
8(b)
1,833
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid		
(650)
			
________

14,010
(592)
________

1,183
Net cash generated from operating activities		
			
-------------

13,418
--------------

Investing activities			
Payment for the purchase of property, plant and equipment
(6,693)
Payment for the purchase of securities		
(51,720)
Increase in accounts with investment manager		
(874)
Interest and dividends received		
5,369
			________
Proceeds from sale of securities		
52,386

(1,232)
(71,260)
(19,155)
4,730
________
70,169

(1,532)
Net
cash used in investing activities		________
			
-------------

(16,748)
________
--------------

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents		 (349)

(3,330)

			________
8(a)
89,766
Cash
and cash equivalents at 1 January

________
93,096

8(a)
89,417
Cash
and cash equivalents at 31 December
			
======

89,766
======

The notes on pages 73 to 87 form part of these financial statements.

2014
$’000

Notes to the financial statements
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
1

Principal place of business
The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce is a company limited by guarantee and
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and has its registered office and principal place
of business at 22/F United Centre, 95 Queensway, Central, Hong Kong.

2

Significant accounting policies

(a)

Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. A summary of the significant
accounting policies adopted by the group and the Chamber is set out below.
The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the group and the Chamber. Note
2(c) provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the group and the
Chamber for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 comprise
the Chamber and its subsidiary (together referred to as the “group”).
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the
historical cost basis except that financial instruments classified as available-for-sale
securities are stated at fair value as explained in note 2(e).
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.
Judgements made by the General Committee in the application of HKFRSs that have
significant effect on the financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 3.
(c)

Changes in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the group. None of these changes in accounting policies have a
material impact on the consoldiated financial statements.
The group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period (see note 26).

(d) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group controls and entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
group has power, only substantive rights (held by the group and other parties) are considered.
An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intragroup transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way
as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
In the Chamber’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at
cost less any impairment losses (see note 2(i)).

(e) Investments in debt and equity securities
The group’s and the Chamber’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other
than an investment in a subsidiary are as follows:
Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated at fair value, which is their
transaction price unless it is determined that the fair value at initial recognition differs from
the transaction price and that fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market
for an identical asset or liability or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from
observable markets. Cost includes attributable transaction costs. These investments are
subsequently accounted for and classified as available-for-sale debt and equity securities. At
the end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss
being recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in
the fair value reserve.
Dividend income from equity securities and interest income from debt securities calculated
using the effective interest method are recognised in income and expenditure statement in
accordance with the policies set out in note 2(p)(iii) and 2(p)(iv) respectively.
When these investments are derecognised or impaired (see note 2(i)), the cumulative
gain or loss recognised in equity is reclassified to the income and expenditure statement.
Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the group commits to purchase/sell
the investments.
(f)

Investment property
Investment properties are land and buildings which are owned or held under a leasehold
interest (see note 2(h)) to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see note 2(i)). Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of investment
properties, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their
estimated useful life, being no more than 50 years.
Both the useful lives of the investment properties and their residual values, if any, are
reviewed annually.
Rental income from investment properties is accounted for as described in note 2(p)(v).
When the group holds a property interest under an operating lease to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation, the interest is classified and accounted for as an investment
property on a property-by-property basis. Any such property interest which has been
classified as an investment property is accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease
(see note 2(h)), and the same accounting policies are applied to that interest as are applied
to other investment properties leased under finance leases. Lease payments are accounted
for as described in note 2(h).

(g)

Property, plant and equipment
The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(i)):
– Building held for own use which are situated on leasehold land classified as held under
operating leases (see note 2(h)); and
– Other items of property, plant and equipment.
Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in the income and expenditure statement
on the date of retirement or disposal.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment,
less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:
– Buildings are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 40 years after the date of completion
– Furniture, fittings and office equipment
5 - 10 years
– Motor vehicles
5 years
– Computer systems
3 years
Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(h) Leased assets
An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease
if the group determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or
assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.
(i) Classification of assets leased to the group
			 Assets that are held by the group under leases which transfer to the group substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as being held under finance leases.
Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
group are classified as operating leases, with the following exceptions:

– Property held under operating leases that would otherwise meet the definition
of an investment property is classified as investment property on a property-byproperty basis and, if classified as investment property, is accounted for as if held
under a finance lease (see note 2(f)); and
(ii) Operating lease charges
			 Where the group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments made
under the leases are charged to the income and expenditure statement in equal
instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease term, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in the income and
expenditure statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.
(i)

Impairment of assets
(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables
		 Investments in debt and equity securities and other current and non-current
receivables that are stated at cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-forsale securities are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether
there is objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes
observable data that comes to the attention of the group about one or more of the
following loss events:
– significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;
– it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;
– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and
– a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.
		 If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as
follows:
– For investment in a subsidiary, the impairment loss is measured by comparing
the recoverable amount of the investment with its carrying amount in accordance
with note 2(i)(ii). The impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount in accordance
with note 2(i)(ii).
– For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset where the effect of discounting is material. Impairment losses
for equity securities carried at cost are not reversed.
– For current receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of discounting is material.
This assessment is made collectively where these financial assets share similar
risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical loss experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics similar to the collective group.
If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through the income and
expenditure statement. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the
asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
– For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss that had been recognised in
the fair value reserve is reclassified to the income and expenditure statement. The
amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in the income and expenditure
statement is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal
repayment and amortisation) and current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that asset previously recognised in the income and expenditure statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the income and expenditure statement in respect
of available-for-sale equity securities are not reversed through the income and
expenditure statement. Any subsequent increase in the fair value of such assets is
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale debt securities are reversed if the
subsequent increase in fair value can be objectively related to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised. Reversals of impairment losses in such
circumstances are recognised in the income and expenditure statement.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of current receivables included within debtors,
deposits and prepayments, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In
this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance
account. When the group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against current receivables directly and any amounts held
in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against the
allowance account. Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off directly are recognised in the income and expenditure
statement.
(ii) Impairment of other assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:
– investment properties; and
– other property, plant and equipment.
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
– Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
– Recognition of impairment losses
An impairment loss is recognised in the income and expenditure statement if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal, if measureable, or value
in use, if determinable.
– Reversals of impairment losses
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to the income and expenditure
statement in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
(j)

Receivables
Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see
note 2(i)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties
without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In
such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful
debts.

(k)

Payables
Payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.

(l)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

(m) Employee benefits
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(n) Income tax
Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in
the income and expenditure statement.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment
to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses. Apart from differences which arise on initial recognition of assets and
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit, all deferred tax liabilities, and all
deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not discounted.
The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to
the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented
separately from each other and are not offset.
(o) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the group or
the Chamber has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
(p) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the income
and expenditure statement as follows:
(i) Members’ subscriptions
			 Members’ subscriptions are recognised on an accrual basis.
(ii) Fees and commission income
			 Fees and commission income are recognised as income when the services are
rendered.
(iii) Interest income
			 Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.
(iv) Dividends
– Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s
right to receive payment is established.
– Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share price of the
investment goes ex-dividend.
(v) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in the income and
expenditure statement in equal instalments over the periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised
in the income and expenditure statement as an integral part of the aggregate net
lease payments receivable.
(q) Translation of foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the income and expenditure
statement.

(r)

Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the group if that
person:
(i) has control or joint control over the group;
(ii) has significant influence over the group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the group or the group’s
parent.
(b) An entity is related to the group if any of the following conditions applies:
(i) The entity and the group are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).
(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).
(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of
either the group or an entity related to the group.
(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).
(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the group.
Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Accounting estimates and judgements
Impairment of assets
If circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of assets may not be recoverable, the
assets may be considered “impaired” and are tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS
36, Impairment of assets. An impairment loss is recognised when the asset’s recoverable
amount has declined below its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of
the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The asset’s recoverable amount will
also be estimated if circumstances indicate that an impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may have decreased. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. In
determining the recoverable amount, significant judgements are required and the group uses
all readily available information, including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions, projections of operating income and expenses or other market data, to arrive at
an amount that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable amount. Any adverse changes
in the assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount would cause the carrying
amount of the asset to be significantly different from the recoverable amount.
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Investment properties and other property, plant and equipment

(a)

Reconciliation of carrying amount

		
		
		

Leasehold Furniture,
properties
fittings					
held for and office
Motor Computer		 Investment
own use equipment
vehicles
systems Sub-total properties
Total

		
Cost:
At 1 January 2014
Additions
		

$’000

67,648 21,229
699
6,857 96,433 82,366 178,799
670 ______- ______
562 ______
1,232 ______- ______
1,232
______- ______

At
31 December 2014
		

67,648 ----------21,899 ----------699 ----------7,419 ----------97,665 ----------82,366 180,031
--------------------67,648
45,819

$’000

21,899
-

$’000

699
-

$’000

7,419
-

$’000

$’000

$’000

At 1 January 2015
Transfer from
investment properties
Additions
		
Disposals

97,665 82,366 180,031
45,819 (45,819)
-

- 10,267
1,223 11,490
- 11,490
_______- (15,579)
_______ _______- _______- (15,579)
_______ _______- (15,579)
_______

At
31 December 2015
		

113,467 ----------16,587 ----------699 ----------8,642 139,395
36,547 175,942
--------------------- ---------------------

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2014
24,044 18,076
303
6,031 48,454 28,525 76,979
Charge
1,470 ______
599 ______
140 ______
513 ______
2,722 _______
1,766 _______
4,488
		for the year
______
			
At
31 December 2014
25,514 ----------18,675 ----------443 ----------6,544 ----------51,176 ----------30,291 ----------81,467
		
______
______
______
______
______
______
______
----------At 1 January 2015
Transfer from
investment properties
Charge for the year
Written
		back on disposals

2,013
833
140
672
3,658
1,222
4,880
(15,156)
______- (15,156)
______ ______- ______- (15,156)
______ _______- _______

At
31 December 2015
		

43,217 ----------4,352 ----------583 ----------7,216 ----------55,368 ----------15,823 ----------71,191
______
______
______
______
______
______
______
-----------

Net book value:
At
31 December 2015
		

70,250 =====
12,235 =====
116 =====
1,426 =====
84,027 =====
20,724 =====
104,751
=====

At
31 December 2014
		
		

25,514
15,690

18,675
-

443
-

6,544
-

51,176 30,291
15,690 (15,690)

81,467
-

42,134 =====
3,224 =====
256 =====
875 =====
46,489 =====
52,075 =====
98,564
=====

(b) The fair value of these investment properties was $82,605,000 as at 31 December
2015 (2014: $165,000,000) which was estimated by the General Committee by making
reference to recent transactions of similar properties.
(c)

At 31 December 2015, all the properties are held under medium-term leases in Hong
Kong.

(d) Assets leased out under operating leases
The group leases out investment properties under operating leases. The leases typically run
for an initial period of two to three years, with an option to renew the lease after that date
at which time all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
All properties held under operating leases that would otherwise meet the definition of
investment property are classified as investment property.
The group’s total future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable
operating leases are as follows:				
		
2015
2014
		
$’000
$’000
Within 1 year
2,654
3,329
			
After 1 year but within 5 years
________
2,313
________
1,562
		
4,967
4,891
			 ======
======
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Non-current financial assets

2015
		
$’000
Available-for-sale debt and equity securities:
Hong Kong listed shares in Tradelink Electronic
52,581
Commerce Limited (note 23(d)(i))		
Unit trusts managed by investment manager
255,923
			
– Unlisted (note 23(d)(i)) 		
________
308,504
		
======

259,261
________
310,080
======

			
Market value of listed investments
________
52,581
			
======

________
50,819
======
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2014
$’000
50,819

Accounts with investment manager
These comprise cash balances in interest-bearing current accounts and fixed deposits
together with accrued interest, managed by the investment manager.
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Debtors, deposits and prepayments

2015
		
$’000
Debtors
1,037
			
Deposits and prepayments
________
1,832
		
2,869
			 ======

2014
$’000
880
________
2,062
2,942
======

The amount of the debtors, deposit and prepayments expected to be recovered or
recognised as expense after more than one year is $293,000 (2014: $226,000). All
of the other debtors and prepayments are expected to be recovered or recognised as
expense within one year.
Debtors are due within 60 to 180 days from the date of billings. Further details on the
Group’s credit policy are set out in note 23(a).
All of the debtors were neither past due nor impaired as at 31 December 2015 and
2014.
Debtors that that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent
customers for whom there was no recent history of default.
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Cash and cash equivalents

(a)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

		
Bank deposits
Cash at bank and in hand
Cash and cash equivalents
		

2015
$’000
62,287
________
27,130
89,417
======

2014
$’000
51,020
________
38,746
89,766
======

(b) Reconciliation of surplus before taxation to cash generated from operations:
Note
2015
2014
		
$’000
$’000
		
Surplus before taxation		
17,702
28,885
Adjustments for:
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 		
423
Depreciation
4(a)
4,880
4,488
Net realised gains on debt and equity securities
14
(6,071)
(11,804)
Interest and dividend income
12
(5,369)
(4,730)
Changes in working capital:
Decrease in debtors, deposits and prepayments		
73
Decrease in creditors and accrued charges		(9,245)
			
(Decrease)/increase in subscriptions received in advance		
________
(560)

169
(5,598)
________
2,600

Cash generated from operations		
1,833
				
======

14,010
======
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Creditors and accrued charges
The amount of creditors and accrued charges expected to be settled after more than one
year is $412,000 (2014: $130,000). All of the other creditors and accrued charges are
repayable within one year.
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Income tax in the consolidated statement of financial position

(a)

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position represents:
2015
2014
		
$’000
$’000
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year
496
630
Provisional Profits Tax paid
(630)
(590)
			________
________
(134)
40
			======
======
(b) Deferred tax assets recognised:
Deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:
折舊費超過折舊免稅額
		
		

Depreciation in excess of related
depreciation allowance

2015
		
$’000
At 1 January
14
Credited/(charged) to the income and expenditure statement
102
			________
At 31 December
116
			======

2014
$’000
64
(50)
________
14
======

(c)

Deferred tax assets not recognised
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(n), the group has not
recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of a subsidiary of
$3,861,000 (2014: $4,227,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against
which the losses can be utilised will be available. The tax losses do not expire under
current tax legislation.
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Fees

		
Certificate fees
		
Electronic Data Interchange fees, including trade declaration
and textile quota licence fees
Reimbursement to The Government of the HKSAR
Reimbursement to Global E-Trading Ltd.
Reimbursement to Tradelink Ltd.
Others
		
		
12 Interest and dividends
		
		
Interest on time deposits
		
Interest and dividends from listed securities
		
13 Publications and promotion, net
		
		
Income from
– publications
– sundry services
		
– seminars
		
Expenditure on
– publications
– trade and programme promotion
– advertising and public relations
		
– seminars
		

2015
$’000
44,218
------------

2014
$’000
46,131
------------

16,092

17,992

(321)
(8,210)
________
7,561
-------------1,048
________
-------------52,827
======

(364)
(3,586)
(6,089)
________
7,953
-------------949
________
-------------55,033
======

2015
$’000
602
________
4,767
5,369
======

2014
$’000
757
________
3,973
4,730
======

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

988
8,675
________
567
10,230
--------------

1,088
8,329
________
665
10,082
--------------

1,336
6,718
234
________
123
8,411
________
-------------1,819
======

1,317
6,014
482
________
297
8,110
________
-------------1,972
======
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Net realised gains on available-for-sale debt and equity securities

		
		
Realised gains on disposal of investments
managed by investment managers
Available-for-sale debt and equity securities
		
reclassified from equity upon disposal
		
15 Staff
		
		
Salaries, bonus and allowances
Contribution to defined contribution retirement plan
Medical expenses
Training and recruiting
		
Sundries
		
16 Office
		
		
Rent and rates
Light and power
Telephone
Printing and stationery
Postage
Maintenance, repairs and cleaning
Books and newspapers
Local travelling
Motor car expenses
		
Sundry expenses
		
17 Services
		
		
Auditors’ remuneration
Payroll service fees
Legal and professional fees
Computing fees
Investment manager’s fees
Insurance
		
Research
		
18 Subscriptions and donations
		
		
Trade organisations’ subscriptions
		
Donations
		
19

2015
$’000
3,976

2014
$’000
7,507

2,095
________
6,071
======

4,297
________
11,804
======

2015
$’000
44,602
4,749
80
108
________
236
49,775
======

2014
$’000
42,913
4,549
82
51
________
386
47,981
======

2015
$’000
2,202
316
80
830
313
1,623
22
57
196
________
337
5,976
======

2014
$’000
1,665
328
81
1,001
339
1,412
26
60
167
________
213
5,292
======

2015
$’000
311
216
288
207
995
1,274
________
34
3,325
======

2014
$’000
322
214
243
203
866
1,297
________3,145
======

2015
$’000
291
________
152
443
======

2014
$’000
311
________
487
798
======

Income tax in the consolidated income and expenditure statement

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income and expenditure statement represents:
		
2015
2014
		
$’000
$’000
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
Provision for the year
496
630
Over-provision in respect of prior years
(20)
(10)
		
________
________
476

620

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (note 10(b)) ________
(102)
		

50
________

374
======

670
======

		

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2015 is calculated at 16.5% (2014: 16.5%)
of the estimated assessable profits for the year.

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting surplus at applicable tax rates:
		
		
Surplus before taxation
		
Notional tax on surplus before taxation, calculated at
Hong Kong Profits Tax of 16.5% (2014: 16.5%)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses
Tax effect of non-taxable income
Tax effect of derecognition of temporary difference
previously recognised
Tax effect on utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses
Over-provision in prior years
Actual tax expense charged to income and expenditure
		
20

2015
$’000
17,702
======

2014
$’000
28,885
======

2,921

4,766

10,502
(12,833)
(136)

9,887
(13,944)
-

(60)
(20)
________
374
======

(29)
(10)
________
670
======

General Committees’ remuneration

General Committees’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
2015
2014
		
		
$’000
$’000
Directors’ fees
Other emoluments
		
============21

Surplus for the year
The surplus for the year includes a surplus of $16,961,000 (2014: $28,040,000) which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Chamber.
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General fund and fair value reserve

(a)

Movements in the components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the
group’s consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Details of the changes in the Chamber’s individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

The Chamber

General
fund

Fair value
reserve

Total
equity

		$’000
Balance at 1 January 2014		 358,068

$’000
90,474

$’000
448,542

Surplus for the year		 28,040
28,040
Other
		________
					
comprehensive income		
- ________
(2,703) ________
(2,703)
Balance at 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015		 386,108

87,771

473,879

Surplus for the year		 16,961
16,961
		________
					
Other
comprehensive income		
- ________
(6,981) ________
(6,981)
Balance at 31 December 2015		 403,069 ======
80,790 ======
483,859
		======
					

(b) Capital management
The group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide benefits for members, by
providing services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at
a reasonable cost.
The group defines “capital” as including all components of equity.
The group’s capital structure is regularly reviewed and managed by the General Committee.
Adjustments are made to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions
affecting the Chamber or the group, to the extent that these do not conflict with the General
Committee’s fiduciary duties towards the Chamber.
The group’s capital structure is monitored on the basis of a debt-to-capital ratio.
There was no change in the group’s approach to capital management compared with
previous years.
The debt-to-capital ratio at 31 December 2015 and 2014 was as follows:
		
2015
Total debt:
$’000
– Total current liabilities
51,443
			
======

2014
$’000
56,491
======

Total equity
482,555
			
======

472,208
======

11%
Debt-to-capital ratio
			
======

12%
======

The group was not subject to externally imposed capital requirements in either the current or
prior year.
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Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments
Exposure to credit and liquidity arises in the normal course of the group’s business. The
group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its available-for-sale debt and equity
securities.
The group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices
used by the group to manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk
The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to debtors included within debtors, deposits
and prepayments and non-current financial assets. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
In respect of debtors, individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. Debtors are due within 60 to 180 days from the date of billing.
Normally, the group does not obtain collateral from customers.
Investments are normally only in liquid securities quoted on a recognised stock exchange
and with counterparties that have high credit ratings. Given their credit ratings, the General
Committee does not expect any investment counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.
The group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the statement of financial position after deducting any impairment allowance.
The group does not have significant concentration of credit risk. Further disclosures in respect
of the group’s exposure to credit risk arising from debtors are set out in note 7.

(b) Liquidity risk
The group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable securities to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting
period of the group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows and the earliest date the group can be required to pay:
		
		
		
		
		

2015

2014

Total
Total
contractual		contractual
undiscounted		undiscounted
cash outflow		 cash outflow
within
Carrying
within
Carrying
1 year or
amount at
1 year or
amount at
		
on demand 31 December on demand 31 December
		
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
Creditors and accrued charges
35,520
35,520
39,968
39,968
		
Subscriptions received in advance
________
15,923
________
15,923 ________
16,483 ________
16,483
51,443
51,443
56,451
56,451
======
====== ====== ======
		
		
		
		

(c)

Equity price risk
The group is exposed to equity price changes arising from available-for-sale equity
securities and investments managed by investment manager (see note 5).
Unit trusts are composed of equity securities listed in both developed and emerging
markets all over the world. In this respect, the General Committee considers the equity
price risk is minimised as the investment portfolio is diversified in terms of geographical
and industry distribution.
All of the group’s unquoted investments are held for long term strategic purposes. Their
performance is assessed regularly, against performance of similar listed entities, based
on the limited information available to the group, together with an assessment of their
relevance to the group’s long term strategic plans.
As the investment portfolio is composed of equity securities listed in various markets
in the world, it is not meaningful to estimate the impact of the change in a single stock
market index to the group, no sensitivity analysis is performed.

(d) Fair value measurement
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
			 Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting date on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as define in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:
– Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement
date
– Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not available.
– Level 3 valuations: Fair values measured using significant unobservable inputs
2015
				
Level 1
Assets			 $’000
Listed available-for-sale equity securities			
52,581
				
Investments managed by investment manager		 ________			 ======
52,581
				

Level 2
$’000
________
255,923
255,923
======

2014
				
Level 1
Assets			 $’000
Listed available-for-sale equity securities			
50,819
				
Investments managed by investment manager		
________			 ======
50,819
				

Level 2
$’000
________
259,261
259,261
======

The fair value of investments managed by investment manager are based on quoted
market prices for identical financial instruments at the end of the reporting period.

(ii) Fair values of financial assets or liabilities carried at other than fair value
The carrying amounts of financial assets or liabilities carried at amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2015 and 2014.
(e) Estimation of fair values
Fair value of listed equity securities and listed managed funds is based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period without any deduction for transaction costs.
Fair value of unlisted managed funds is based on unit price quoted by financial institutions.
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Commitments
At 31 December 2015, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of properties are payable as follows:

		
		
Within 1 year
		
After 1 year but within 5 years

2015
$’000
1,596
________
1,167
2,763
======

		

2014
$’000
976
________
366
1,342
======

The group is a lessee in respect of a number of properties held under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of two to three years, with an option to renew
the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
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Non-current assets			

Note

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Investment properties		
20,724
			
Other property, plant and equipment		
________
84,027

52,075
________
46,489

		104,751

98,564

Interest in a subsidiary		3,136

2,920

Non-current financial assets		308,504

310,080

Deferred tax assets		116

14

附 註

Current assets
Accounts with investment manager		
Debtors, deposits and prepayments		
Current tax recoverable		
Cash and cash equivalents		

28,207
2,343
134
88,067

27,333
2,452
88,964

			
		118,751
________

________
118,749

		535,258
			
-------------

530,327
--------------

Current liabilities
Creditors and accrued charges		
Subscriptions received in advance		
Current tax payable		

35,476
15,923
-

39,925
16,483
40

		51,399
			
-------------

56,448
--------------

NET ASSETS		483,859
			
======
22(a)
403,069
General fund

473,879
======
386,108

				
		________
22(a)
80,790
________
87,771
Fair value reserve
473,879
TOTAL
EQUITY		483,859
		======
				
======
Approved and authorised for issue by the General Committee on 24 March 2016.
Y K Pang

Chairman

Stephen Ng

Deputy Chairman

Shirley Yuen

CEO

Shirley Loo

Treasurer
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Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but not
yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2015
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a few
amendments and new standards which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2015 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements.
These include the following which may be relevant to the group.
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

1 January 2016

Amendments to HKAS 1, Disclosure initiative

1 January 2016

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38,
Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation

1 January 2016

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

1 January 2017

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

1 January 2018

The group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendments is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the group’s financial
statements.

